
 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Debbie Swanson 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Karen Lovejoy Roe 
LaResha Thornton 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
Tuesday, March 11, 2025 

6:30 P.M. 
 

If you need any assistance due to a disability, please contact the Planning 
Department at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting at 

planning@ypsitownship.org or 734-544-4000 ext. 1. 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. ROLL CALL 

 
3. APPROVAL OF THE FEBRUARY 25, 2025, REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
 
4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
A. CONDITIONAL REZONING – THE WASHTENAW PACE INC. / BRIO LIVING SERVICES – 

2940 ELLSWORTH ROAD – PARCEL K-11-07-300-075 – TO CONSIDER A CONDITIONAL 
REZONING REQUEST APPLICATION TO REZONE 2940 ELLSWORTH ROAD FROM R-4, 
ONE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO RM-MD, MULTIPLE FAMILY MEDIUM DENSITY 
DISTRICT TO PERMIT THE CONSTRUCTION OF A 3-STORY SENIOR ASSISTED AND/OR 
INDEPENDENT LIVING FACILITY ON THE VACANT PORTION OF THIS 6.4-ACRE SITE.  

 
6. OLD BUSINESS 
 
7. NEW BUSINESS  
 

A. CONDITIONAL REZONING – THE WASHTENAW PACE INC./BRIO LIVING SERVICES – 
2940 ELLSWORTH ROAD – PARCEL K-11-07-300-075 – TO CONSIDER A CONDITIONAL 
REZONING REQUEST APPLICATION TO REZONE 2940 ELLSWORTH ROAD FROM R-4, 
ONE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO RM-MD, MULTIPLE FAMILY MEDIUM DENSITY 
DISTRICT TO PERMIT THE CONSTRUCTION OF A 3-STORY SENIOR ASSISTED AND/OR 
INDEPENDENT LIVING FACILITY ON THE VACANT PORTION OF THIS 6.4-ACRE SITE.  
 

B. MAJOR PD CHANGE – ALLIED SIGNS, INC. – 2010 WHITTAKER ROAD – PARCEL K-11-
21-200-040 – TO CONSIDER PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE KROGER SIGN PACKAGE 
ILLUSTRATED ON THE FINAL PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD) SIGN PLAN FOR THE PAINT 
CREEK CROSSINGS SHOPPING CENTER.    

 
8. OPEN DISCUSSION FOR ISSUES NOT ON THE AGENDA 

 
A. CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED 
B. PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBERS 
C. MEMBERS OF THE AUDIENCE 

 
9. TOWNSHIP BOARD REPRESENTATIVE REPORT 
 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Debbie Swanson 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Karen Lovejoy Roe 
LaResha Thornton 

10. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS REPRESENTATIVE REPORT 
 

11. TOWNSHIP ATTORNEY REPORT  
 

12. PLANNING DEPARTMENT REPORT 
 

13. OTHER BUSINESS 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT  
 
 
 



Page 1 of 11 
 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI  
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

Tuesday, February 25, 2025 
6:30 pm 

  
  

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT 

Bill Sinkule 
Elizabeth El-Assadi 
Gloria Peterson 
Larry Doe 
Bianca Tyson 
Daryl Kirby 
Amy Kehrer 
  

STAFF AND CONSULTANTS 

Fletcher Reyher, Planning and Development Coordinator 
Sally Elmiger - Carlisle Wortman 
Dennis McLain – Township Attorney 
  

• CALL TO ORDER/ESTABLISH QUORUM 

MOTION: Mr. Sinkule called the meeting to order at 6:30 pm. 

  

• APPROVAL OF JANUARY 14, 2025, REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

MOTION: Mr. Doe MOVED to approve the January 14, 2025, regular meeting 
minutes. The MOTION was SECONDED by Mr. Kirby and PASSED by 
unanimous consent. 

  

• APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

MOTION: Ms. El-Assadi MOVED to approve the agenda as presented. The 
MOTION was SECONDED by Mr. Doe and PASSED by unanimous consent. 



Page 2 of 11 
 

 

• PUBLIC HEARINGS 

SPECIAL LAND USE – UPH YPSILANTI PROPERTY, LLC – 1410 S. HURON 
STREET PARCEL K-11-38-280-018 – TO CONSIDER THE SPECIAL 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION OF UPH YPSILANTI 
PROPERTY, LCC TO PERMIT THE CONSTRUCTION OF A 4,330 SQ. FT. 
CULVER’S RESTAURANT WITH A DRIVE-THROUGH FOR A 3.43-ACRE 
SITE ZONED TC, TOWN CENTER WITH A SITE TYPE D DESIGNATION. 

Mr. Fletcher Reyher, Planning and Development Coordinator, presented the 
Preliminary Site Plan and Special Land Use Application from UPH Ypsilanti 
Property, LLC for a proposed 4,330 sq. ft. restaurant & drive-through with 104 seats, 
and a 65-space parking lot. Other site features include an outdoor patio, sidewalk 
connection to Huron Street, lighting, and landscaping. The applicant is purchasing 
the 3.34-acre site from the Township. The restaurant will occupy a portion of the 
parcel, and the remaining portion of the site will remain vacant for now. All access 
will be off Brinker Way via the access road developed by the Aldi project. The 
property is zoned TC, Town Center with a Site Type D Designation. Restaurants are 
permitted and uses with drive-through facilities are allowed via special land use. 

Mr. Fletcher Reyher presented an aerial view of the land and informed the 
Commission that the site plan submitted has been reviewed by township staff and 
consultants in accordance with all procedures. Carlisle Wortman Associates reviewed 
the site plan and has recommended multiple items to be discussed with the planning 
commission prior to the applicant going to the Zoning Board of Appeals. 
 
Reviews of different departments: 
 
• OHM: The Townships Engineering consultant recommended approval of the site 

plans in their letter dated January 7, 2025. OHM has provided the applicant with 
detailed engineering comments that would be addressed at the time of final site 
plan and detailed engineering review. 

• Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority: YCUA recommended approval in 
their letter dated January 21, 2025. 

• Ypsilanti Township Fire Department: YTFD has recommended approval in a 
letter dated January 2, 2025. 



Page 3 of 11 
 

• Water Resources Commission: WRC asked the applicant to address four items 
in their most recent letter dated January 15, 2025. These items will be addressed at 
the time of final site plan review. 

• Washtenaw County Road Commission also shared a handful of comments with the 
planning department. These comments will be addressed at the time of the final 
site plan. 

 

Mr. Fletcher Reyher, Planning and Development Coordinator, informed the 
Commission that Sally Elmiger (Planning Consultant - Carlisle Wortman) would 
provide the report from Carlisle Wortman. 

Ms. Elmiger informed the Commission that she reviewed the project, and a 
postponement from the Planning Commission would have the project to be presented 
to the ZBA for decisions on the variances. 

Ms. Elmiger stated that Carlisle Wortman recommended approval of the Special 
Land use as it is consistent with the Master Plan and the vision for the town center 
area. 

Ms. Elmiger suggested that the Planning Commission to consider having the 
discussion with the applicant on the following: 

• To discuss the need for excess impervious surface due to parking space length. 
• To consider waiver of striping/signage of loading space for deliveries. 
• Applicant to obtain a variance to locate service lane/waiting spaces in front yard. 
• Planning Commission to consider ordinance criteria regarding 

waiving/modifying requirement for 30 deficient landscape trees. 
• Provide downward facing, shielded alternative for light fixture “P” due to higher 

than permitted Kelvin rating, and higher than permitted footcandles, to be 
evaluated at Final Site Plan review. The color temperature is 4000 Kelvin, above 
the 3500 Kelvin requirement. An alternative fixture that meets the Kelvin 
requirement could be used and evaluated at Final Site Plan review. 
 

Commissioner inquired about the proposed underground water storage system under 
the parking lot and the concern of having it fixed during a technical issue and the 
possibility of moving the trees away from the area (since the roots of the trees can in 
filtrate the water system); The Township Engineer Stacie Monte (OHM) informed 
the Planning Commission that they discourage in planting trees above utilities. Since 



Page 4 of 11 
 

the storm sewer is privately owned and operated it would be the owners right/ 
discretion on the choice. Ultimately OHM would request the applicant to provide 
maintenance schedule on the plans. 
 
Commissioner Kirby inquired about the problems that could arise due to the 
deficiency of trees; Matt Cole (site engineer) shared with the Planning Commission 
that the ordinance requires trees to be planted for every square foot on the site. Trees 
would be placed around the edge and in places that would require them. Matt Cole 
stated that there would be about seven feet of soil over the top of the underground 
water system (stone and fabric), and it would not cause any problem to the roots. A 
revised draft on the lights (that meets the ordinance) has been submitted to Mr. 
Fletcher Reyher for review. 
 
Commissioner Peterson inquired about the reason for the long parking spaces/ 
loading spaces; Mr. Cole stated that the best parking space that is always 
recommended to clients is a 20-foot-long space and a 24-foot drive aisle. Some 
municipalities allow it to go down to 16-18 feet. The problem arises when parking 
SUVs and other similar cars, it would be difficult to reverse. The restaurant serves 
lunch/ dinner and opens at 10 am. Deliveries are usually around 8 am or earlier. The 
vehicle pulls close to the door to drop supplies off. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED AT 6:45 PM 
  
Hearing None. 
  
PUBLIC HEARING ENDED AT 6:45 PM 
 
MOTION: Ms. El-Assadi MOVED to postpone the Special Land Use request for the 
construction of a 4,330 sq. ft. restaurant and drive-through at the property located at 
1410 S. Huron Street, Ypsilanti, MI 48197, Parcel K-11-38-280-018 to allow the 
applicant time to obtain the required variances as outlined in the Planning 
Commission Packet. 
 
The MOTION was SECONDED by Mr. Doe. 
  

Roll Call Vote: Mr. Doe (Yes); Ms. Tyson (Yes); Mr. Sinkule (Yes); Ms. El-
Assadi (Yes); Mr. Kirby (Yes); Ms. Peterson (Yes); Ms. Kehrer(Yes). 



Page 5 of 11 
 

 
  
MOTION PASSED. 

 

• OLD BUSINESS 

None to Report 

 

• NEW BUSINESS 
 
a. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN – UPH YPSILANTI PROPERTY, LLC – 1410 S. 

HURON STREET – PARCEL K-11-38-280-018 – TO CONSIDER THE 
PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN APPLICATION OF UPH YPSILANTI 
PROPERTY, LCC TO PERMIT THE CONSTRUCTION OF A 4,330 SQ. FT. 
CULVER’S RESTAURANT WITH A DRIVE-THROUGH FOR A 3.43-ACRE 
SITE ZONED TC, TOWN CENTER WITH A SITE TYPE D DESIGNATION. 

 

MOTION: Ms. El-Assadi MOVED to postpone the Preliminary Site Plan request 
for the construction of a 4,330 sq. ft. restaurant and drive-through at the property 
located at 1410 S. Huron Street, Ypsilanti, MI 48197, Parcel K-11-38-280-018 to 
allow the applicant time to obtain the required variances as outlined in the 
Planning Commission Packet. 
 
The MOTION was SECONDED by Mr. Kirby. 

  
Roll Call Vote: Mr. Doe (Yes); Ms. Tyson (Yes); Mr. Sinkule (Yes); Ms. El-
Assadi (Yes); Mr. Kirby (Yes); Ms. Peterson (Yes); Ms. Kehrer (Yes). 

 

MOTION PASSED. 

 

b. SPECIAL LAND USE – ZAWIYAH FOUNDATION, LLC – 5718 
WHITTAKER ROAD – PARCEL K-11-21-300-034 – TO CONSIDER THE 
SPECIAL CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION OF ZAWIYAH 
FOUNDATION, LLC TO PERMIT THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A HOUSE OF 



Page 6 of 11 
 

WORSHIP FOR A 0.71-ACRE SITE ZONED NB, NEIGHBORHOOD 
BUSINESS. 
 

Mr. Fletcher Reyher, Planning and Development Coordinator, presented the 
Preliminary Site Plan and Special Land Use Application from Zawiyah 
Foundation LLC to use the existing building located at 5718 Whittaker Road for 
worship and prayer for the Zawiyah Foundation. 

Mr. Fletcher Reyher informed the Planning Commission that Zawiyah Foundation 
LLC was present at the January 14, 2025, meeting and the request for preliminary 
site plan and special land use was postponed for the applicant to address certain 
items that the commissioners had requested. 

At the January 14, 2025, meeting the Planning Commission had requested the 
following: 

• Applicants plan once their members grow from the current 12 to 19 when the 
maximum occupancy of the current building configuration is 19 persons. 

• The applicant to address the deficient number of trees and shrubs in their 
landscaping plan. 

• The applicant to install an eight-foot-wide safety path along the street frontage, 
instead of the five-foot proposed sidewalk. 

• The applicant to provide documentation that no loading/ unloading zone is 
needed for their use. 

 

Mr. Fletcher Reyher informed the Planning Commission that Zawiyah Foundation 
LLC did provide a response letter to these specific requests and have revised their 
plans. 

Ms. Elmiger informed the Commission that she reviewed the project, and the 
applicant had provided additional information as requested. The applicant has 
stated that they would present a request to the Planning Commission in case they 
do outgrow the space (requesting the expansion of the building). The applicant has 
proposed the increase of trees/ shrubs adding landscaping to the site (west side of 
the property; residential side). The applicant has provided a three-foot extension; 
the current five-foot-wide sidewalk will be extended to eight feet, which meets the 
ordinance requirement. The applicant has provided documentation on not having 
the requirement for the loading zone. 



Page 7 of 11 
 

Commissioner Kehrer inquired about the large tree at the front that could tamper 
with the power lines/ utilities; Ms. Elmiger stated that the tree was a hackberry, 
and the Commissioners could request the applicant to modify the landscaping. 

Sebastian Robbins (representing Zawiyah Foundation) shared about increasing the 
five-foot sidewalk to eight-foot sidewalk, which was modified. The applicant 
made changes to the landscaping as requested (the green barrier towards the 
neighboring residents) and the need for a loading zone is not required. The 
increase in members is most likely not to occur but if it does happen and an 
expansion of the building is needed, it would be brought to the Planning 
Commission. 

Commissioner Peterson inquired about the type of organization/ parking lot; 
Sebastian Robbins stated that Zawiyah means corner, a place for prayer (Sufi 
Organization); opened for five daily prayers. The property currently has ten 
parking lots plus a dedicated handicap parking space. Usually there are about six 
people at a prayer session. 

Commissioner Peterson inquired about the future plans in case of an expansion; 
Ms. Elmiger informed Commissioner Peterson that the foundation cannot have 
more than 19 people and the parking lot is available only for 12 vehicles, any 
expansion would require the applicant to present a request to the Planning 
Commission. 

MOTION: Ms. El-Assadi MOVED to approve the Special Land Use Permit 
submitted by Zawiyah Foundation, LLC to permit establishment of a house of 
worship, utilizing the existing building on the 0.71-acre site zoned NB, 
Neighborhood Business, located at 5718 Whittaker Road, Ypsilanti, MI 48197, 
Parcel K-11-21-300-034, as the proposal meets the criteria in Article 10, Special 
Land Use with the following conditions: 
 
• The applicant shall address all outstanding comments from reviewing agencies 

prior to Final Site Plan Approval. The applicant shall revise all plan sheets to 
reflect the results of this evening’s discussion. 

• The applicant shall obtain all applicable internal and outside agency permits 
prior to construction. 

• All vehicles must be parked in the designated spaces in the parking lot, as 
outlined in the plans dated November 19, 2024, and included in tonight’s 
Packet. Parking in undesignated spaces or on unpaved areas outside of the 



Page 8 of 11 
 

designated spaces is prohibited. The construction of an additional car park is 
prohibited without the required Township review and approval. 

• The building is limited to an occupant load of nineteen (19) people, as shown 
on the plans in tonight’s packet. 

• Change of shade tree at the front to ornamental trees/ shrubs that will not grow 
taller than the lowest utility line out front (the tree below the power line) and 
any other conditions based upon the planning commission discussion. 
 

The MOTION was SECONDED by Mr. Kirby. 
  

Roll Call Vote: Mr. Doe (Yes); Ms. Tyson (Yes); Mr. Sinkule (Yes); Ms. El-
Assadi (Yes); Mr. Kirby (Yes); Ms. Peterson (Yes); Ms. Kehrer (Yes). 

 

MOTION PASSED. 

 

c. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN – ZAWIYAH FOUNDATION, LLC – 5718 
WHITTAKER ROAD –PARCEL K-11-21-300-034 – TO CONSIDER THE 
PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN APPLICATION OF ZAWIYAH FOUNDATION, 
LLC TO PERMIT THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A HOUSE OF WORSHIP FOR 
A 0.71-ACRE SITE ZONED NB, NEIGHBORHOOD BUSINESS. 
 
MOTION: Ms. El-Assadi MOVED to approve the Preliminary Site Plan 
submitted by Zawiyah Foundation, LLC, to  
permit establishment of a house of worship, utilizing the existing building on the 
0.71-acre site zoned NB, Neighborhood Business, located at 5718 Whittaker Road, 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197, Parcel K-11-21-300-034, with the following conditions: 
 
• The applicant shall address all outstanding comments from reviewing agencies 

prior to Final Site Plan Approval. The applicant shall revise all plan sheets to 
reflect the results of this evening’s discussion. 

• The applicant shall obtain all applicable internal and outside agency permits 
prior to construction. 

• All vehicles must be parked in the designated spaces in the parking lot, as 
outlined in the plans dated November 19, 2024, and included in tonight’s 
Packet. Parking in undesignated spaces or on unpaved areas outside of the 



Page 9 of 11 
 

designated spaces is prohibited. The construction of additional parking is 
prohibited without the required Township review and approval. 

• The building is limited to an occupant load of nineteen (19) people, as shown 
on the plans in tonight’s packet. 

• Change of shade trees at the front to ornamental trees/ shrubs that will not 
grow taller than the lowest utility line out front (the tree below the power line) 
and any other conditions based upon the planning commission discussion. 
 

The MOTION was SECONDED by Mr. Kirby. 
  

Roll Call Vote: Mr. Doe (Yes); Ms. Tyson (Yes); Mr. Sinkule (Yes); Ms. El-
Assadi (Yes); Mr. Kirby (Yes); Ms. Peterson (Yes); Ms. Kehrer (Yes). 

 

MOTION PASSED. 

 

d. ELECTION OF OFFICERS FOR 2025 CALENDER YEAR – AT THE 
FIRST REGULAR MEETING EACH YEAR, THE PLANNING COMMISSION 
SHALL SELECT FROM ITS MEMBERSHIP A CHAIRPERSON, VICE 
CHAIRPERSON, AND SECRETARY. 
 

Mr. Fletcher Reyher, Planning and Development Coordinator, informed the 
Planning Commissioners that they would need to elect a Chairperson, a Vice 
Chairperson and a secretary (at the first regular meeting each year). February 25, 
2025, was the first meeting with all members present. 

Ms. Peterson nominated Ms. Elizabeth El-Assadi as Chair; Ms. Elizabeth El-
Assadi accepted the nomination. 
 
Ms. Peterson nominated Mr. Sinkule as Vice Chair; Mr. Sinkule accepted the 
nomination. 
 
Mr. Larry Doe nominated Mr. Daryl Kirby as Secretary. 
 
MOTION: Ms. Peterson MOVED to nominate Ms. Elizabeth El-Assadi as Chair; 
Mr. Bill Sinkule as Vice Chair and Mr. Larry Doe nominated Mr. Daryl Kirby as 
Secretary for the year of 2025 Planning Commission. 



Page 10 of 11 
 

 
The MOTION was SECONDED by Ms. Tyson. 

  
Roll Call Vote: Mr. Doe (Yes); Ms. Tyson (Yes); Mr. Sinkule (Yes); Ms. El-
Assadi (Yes); Mr. Kirby (Yes); Ms. Peterson (Yes); Ms. Kehrer (Yes). 
 
MOTION PASSED. 

 

• OPEN DISCUSSIONS FOR ISSUES NOT ON AGENDA 

  

• Correspondence Received 

None to Report. 

  

• Planning Commission members 

None to Report. 

  

• Members of the audience 

None to Report. 

  

• TOWNSHIP BOARD REPRESENTATIVE REPORT 

Ms. Peterson informed the Planning Commission of the upcoming second senior 
budget meeting from Washtenaw County. 

  

• ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS REPRESENTATIVE REPORT 

None to Report 

  

• TOWNSHIP ATTORNEY REPORT 

 None to Report 



Page 11 of 11 
 

 

• PLANNING DEPARTMENT REPORT 

None to Report 

 

• OTHER BUSINESS 

Mr. Fletcher Reyher informed the Planning Commission that this was his last 
Planning Commission meeting with Ypsilanti Township since he has accepted a new 
role with Dexter Township. 

  

• ADJOURNMENT 

MOTION: Ms. El-Assadi MOVED to adjourn at 7:20 pm. The MOTION was 
SECONDED by Ms. Peterson and PASSED by unanimous consent. 

  

========================================================== 

Respectively Submitted by Minutes Services 

 

 

 



Project Name:

Location: 

Date:

Planning D  Report 

Full Preliminary Site Plan Review # Rezoning
Sketch Preliminary Site Plan Review # Tentative Preliminary Plat
Administrative Preliminary Site Plan Review # Final Preliminary Plat
Detailed Engineering/Final Site Plan Review # Final Plat Process
Special Use Permit Planned Development Stage I
Public Hearing Planned Development Stage II

Contact / Reviewer
Consultants, Departments,

& Agencies Approv Approv Denied N/A
See email/letter

attached or comments 
below

Planning D Township Planning 
Department

Carlisle/Wortman 
Associates

Planning Consultant

OHM / Stantec Engineering Consultant

,
Fire Marshal

Township Fire
Department

Dave Bellers, 
Building Official

Township Building 
Department

Brian McCleery, 
Deputy Assessor

Township Assessing 
Department

Scott Westover, 
Engineering Manager

Ypsilanti Community 
Utilities Authority

Gary Streight, Project 
Manager

Washtenaw County Road 
Commission 

Theresa Marsik,
Stormwater Engineer

Washtenaw County Water 
Resources Commission

James Drury, Permit 
Agent

Michigan Department of 
Transportation

Planning D Recommended Action:



Date: February 11, 2025
 
 

Conditional Rezoning Application 
For

Ypsilanti Charter Township, Michigan
  

 
Applicant:                                          Washtenaw PACE, Inc./Brio Living Services     
                                                                 
Project Name:                                   Washtenaw PACE Rezoning     
                                                                 
Plan Date:                                           October 18, 2024 
                                                                               
Location:                                             2940 Ellsworth Road  
                                                                 
Zoning:                                                R-4, One Family Residential District 
                                                                 
Action Requested:                            Conditional rezoning from R-4, One Family Residential to  
 RM-MD, Residential Multiple-Family; Medium Density 
                                                         
PROJECT AND SITE DESCRIPTION 

The Washtenaw Pace Inc. (owner) of 2940 Ellsworth Road is seeking a conditional rezoning to rezone their 
property from R-4, One Family Residential to RM-MD, Residential Multiple-Family (Medium Density).  The 
reason for the rezoning is that the property owner would like to establish senior assisted and/or 
independent living apartments on a vacant portion of the site.    
 
This site is currently occupied by the Huron Valley PACE facility, and this facility will remain at this site.   
PACE is a non-profit organization that provides medical and supportive services, and recreational activities 
for their elderly clients. PACE staff manage their clients’ daily care so that they can continue to live at 
home.  PACE clients are 55+, and low income.     
 
The proposed rezoning is conditioned upon: 

 Limiting the number of apartments to 40 units (or 6.25 units/acre) 
 Limiting the building height to three stories/35-feet-tall 
 Setting the building back at least 60 feet from the north property line (which abuts single-family 

residential uses).  Accessory structures will not be subject to this increased setback. 
 Age restricting residents of the building to 55 and older.   

  



2940 Ellsworth Road - Conditional Rezoning 
February 11, 2025 

2 
 

Figure 1: Location of Subject Site 

Surrounding Property Details: 

Zoning and existing use of properties surrounding the subject site include:  

Direction Zoning Use 

North R-4, One Family Residential and 
RM-MD, Residential Multiple-Family (Medium Density) 

Single-Family Residential / Vacant   

South RM-MD, Residential Multiple-Family (Medium Density) Multiple-Family Residential 
East R-4, One Family Residential Single-Family Residential
West R-4, One Family Residential Vacant

Size of Site:
The total area of the subject site is 6.4 acres. 

Current Use of Site: 
The site is currently used by the Huron Valley PACE facility, providing daily services to seniors arriving by 
bus or car.  The new apartment building would be located on the vacant (east) part of the site.   
 
Proposed Future Use of Site: 
Senior independent/assisted living apartments.  Senior independent/assisted living facilities is a permitted 
use in the RM-MD, Residential Multiple-Family (Medium Density) zoning district. 

 

Subject
Site



2940 Ellsworth Road - Conditional Rezoning 
February 11, 2025 

3 
 

ZONING 

Figure 2. Zoning Map

 
The site is currently zoned R-4, One Family Residential, and surrounded by R-4, One Family Residential to 
the east, north, and west.  RM-MD, Residential Multiple-Family (Medium Density) is located across 
Ellsworth Road south of the subject site, as well as on a small vacant parcel north of the subject site. 

MASTER PLAN 

Future Land Use 
The site (identified by a on the map on the next page) is located in an area designated for 
“Neighborhood Preservation” (tan shading) in the Master Plan.  Land designated Neighborhood 
Preservation is clustered in the north and east central portion of the Township, where established 
residential neighborhoods and individual homes are located.  The category calls for preservation of 
neighborhoods through new investment, rehabilitation and infill.  The properties south of the subject site 
(across Ellsworth Road) are designated a “Neighborhood Transition District” (blue shading).  This 
designation includes a mix of uses that serve as a transition from Neighborhood Preservation Areas to 
more intense uses. 
 
Land Use Goals and Design Concepts and Considerations 
The Master Plan’s land use goals for Neighborhood Preservation areas call for multi-family residential uses 
along neighborhood edges and edges adjacent to Neighborhood Transition Districts.  Design concepts for 
Neighborhood Preservation call for multi-family residential uses in these locations to be at a scale and 
density consistent with the surrounding area.  The Land Use vision and Design Concepts and 
Considerations for Neighborhood Preservation areas are shown on the next page. 



2940 Ellsworth Road - Conditional Rezoning 
February 11, 2025 
 

4 
 

Figure 3: Future Land Use Map in Master Plan 



2940 Ellsworth Road - Conditional Rezoning
February 11, 2025

5 

The approximate density of neighborhoods in the vicinity of the subject site are shown on the map below: 

Source: Nearmap (Image Capture 10-4-24) 

Zoning Plan
The Zoning Plan Table (Pg. 51 in Master Plan document) relates the future land use categories to the 
zoning districts.  In this case, the Neighborhood Preservation designation in the Master Plan coordinates 
with several zoning districts, including RM-2.  (Note that after the Master Plan was adopted, the Zoning 
Ordinance was updated, and some of the zoning district titles were modified.  The Master Plan uses the 
old zoning district titles.   RM-2 was modified to RM-MD in the Zoning Ordinance update.) 

STANDARDS

As set forth in Section 1804, the township shall utilize the following standards to review the application 
for rezoning: 

1. Consistency with the goals, policies, and future land use map of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
Master Plan, including any sub-area or corridor plans. If conditions have changed since the master 
plan was adopted, the rezoning may be found to be consistent with recent development trends in the 
area.  

Single-
Family

2.2 DU/AC
Multi-Family
14.4 DU/AC

Single-Family
3.54 DU/AC

Subject Site
6.25 DU/AC

Multi-
Family

12.8 DU/AC



2940 Ellsworth Road - Conditional Rezoning 
February 11, 2025 

6 
 

2. Compatibility of the site's physical, geological, hydrological, and other environmental features with all 
uses permitted in the proposed zoning district compared to uses permitted under current zoning.   

3. The compatibility of all uses permitted in the proposed zoning district with surrounding uses and zoning 
in terms of land suitability, impacts on the environment, density, nature of use, traffic impacts, 
aesthetics, infrastructure, and potential influence on property values compared to uses permitted 
under current zoning.   

4. The capacity of Township utilities and services is sufficient to accommodate all the uses permitted in 
the requested district without compromising the health, safety, and welfare of the Township.   

5. The capacity of the street system to safely and efficiently accommodate the expected traffic generated 
by uses permitted in the requested zoning district.  

6. The apparent demand for the types of uses permitted in the requested zoning district in the Township, 
and surrounding area, in relation to the amount of land in the Township, and surrounding area, 
currently zoned and available to accommodate the demand.  

7. The boundaries of the requested zoning district are sufficient to meet the dimensional regulations for 
the zoning district listed in Article IV, schedule of regulations.   

8. The requested zoning district shall be more appropriate from the Township's perspective than another 
zoning district.   

9. The requested rezoning will not create an isolated and unplanned spot zone.   
10. The request has not previously been submitted within the past one (1) year, unless conditions have 

changed, or new information has been provided.   
11. Other criteria as determined by the Planning Commission or Township Board which would protect the 

health and safety of the public, protect public and private investment in the Township, and enhance 
the overall quality of life in Charter Township of Ypsilanti.   

 
We find that the standards have been met:  
1. The site is in the area designated in the Master Plan for “Neighborhood Preservation.”  The vision for 

Neighborhood Preservation specifically calls for multiple-family housing along the “edges” of these 
areas, particularly if the edge abuts a “Neighborhood Transition District.”  The subject site is located 
on the edge of the Neighborhood Preservation area and abuts a Neighborhood Transition District.   

2. The Master Plan also states that any new multiple-family residential developments should be at a 
scale and density that is consistent with the surrounding area.   
- Height:  The height of the proposed building is 3-stories tall.  The multiple-family developments 

to the south and east of this site are also 3-stories tall.  The single-family buildings to the north 
are 1 to 2 stories tall.  We consider the 3-story building to provide a gradual change from the 
single-family dwelling heights to established building heights along Ellsworth Road. 

- Density:  The proposed density of the new building (6.25 DU/AC) is in between the lower density 
of the single-family residential uses to the north, and the higher density of the multiple-family 
residential uses to the south and east.  Again, we consider this to be an appropriate, gradual 
change from single-family residential uses to the busy Ellsworth corridor. 

3. Because this is a “conditional” rezoning, the rezoning is based on development of a 3-story building 
to be used for senior independent/assisted living.  Therefore, other potential uses in the RM-MD 
zoning district will not be permitted if the conditional rezoning is approved. 

4. The building will be used for senior housing.  It’s possible that some of the residents will have their 
own car, but some may not.  Traffic generation by senior housing is considerably less than detached 
single-family dwellings. Per the Institute of Transportation Engineers Trip Generation Manual (11th

Edition), a unit in multi-family Senior Adult Housing generates 3.24 trips on a weekday, while a 
detached single-family home generates 9.43 trips on a weekday.  



2940 Ellsworth Road - Conditional Rezoning
February 11, 2025

7 

5. The minimum lot size for residential uses (1-acre) in the RM-MD zoning district is met by the area of 
this site that will be occupied by the senior housing building and parking (or 2.5 acres).  The maximum 
building height in the RM-MD zoning district is 4 stories/45 feet; the proposal will also meet this 
standard.  Lastly, senior independent/assisting living facilities shall provide a minimum of 2,000 s.f. of 
lot area per one-bedroom unit, and 2,500 s.f. of lot area per two-bedroom unit.  The site that is 
proposed to be occupied by the apartment building provides enough square footage to meet this 
requirement for 40 units. (Note that the floor plan submitted with this rezoning request shows 35 
one-bedroom units and 2 two-bedroom units.)

6. The parcels across Ellsworth Road are zoned RM-MD. The requested rezoning will not create an 
isolated and unplanned spot zone.

7. The rezoning and future use of the property as proposed shall not compromise township utilities and 
services. 

RECOMMENDATIONS

We recommend rezoning the parcel from R-4, One-Family Residential to RM-MD, Residential Multiple-
Family (Medium Density), because the proposal with conditions meets the criteria in the ordinance.

  



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Debbie Swanson 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Karen Lovejoy Roe 
LaResha Thornton 

Staff Report  
The Washtenaw PACE, Inc. / Brio Living Services 

2940 Ellsworth Road, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
Conditional Rezoning 

 
 February 11, 2025  

 
Applicant: The Washtenaw PACE, Inc. / Brio Living Services.  
 
Project Name: Conditional Rezoning Request  
 
Plan Date: 10-18-2024 
 
Location: 2940 Ellsworth Road, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 Parcel #K-11-07-300-075 
 
Zoning: R-4, One-Family Residential 
 
Action Requested: Conditionally Rezone the Subject Site to RM-MD, Multiple Family 
Medium Density 
  
 
SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  
 

Conditional Rezoning 
 
The following suggested motions and conditions are provided to assist the Planning 
Commission in making the most appropriate motion for this application.  The Commission 
may utilize, add or reject any conditions suggested herein, as they deem appropriate. 
 
Motion to Approve:  
“I move to recommend approval to the Township Board of Trustees the request to 
conditionally rezone the 6.4-acre parcel from R-4, One-Family Residential to RM-MD, 
Multiple Family Medium Density located at 2940 Ellsworth Road, Ypsilanti, MI, 48197, 
Parcel K-11-07-300-075, as the request, with the voluntary conditions offered, is 
consistent with the criteria established in the Township Zoning Ordinance Section 1804, 
Criteria for amendment to the Official Zoning Map. 

Motion to Deny:  
“I move to recommend denial to the Township Board of Trustees the request to 
conditionally rezone the 6.4-acre parcel from R-4, One-Family Residential to RM-MD, 
Multiple Family Medium Density located at 2940 Ellsworth Road, Ypsilanti, MI, 48197, 
Parcel K-11-07-300-075, as the request, with the voluntary conditions offered, is 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Debbie Swanson 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Karen Lovejoy Roe 
LaResha Thornton 

inconsistent with the criteria established in the Township Zoning Ordinance Section 1804, 
Criteria for amendment to the Official Zoning Map, due to the following reasons:”   

1.____________________________________________________________________ 
 
2.____________________________________________________________________  
 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 

Fletcher Reyher  
Fletcher Reyher, AICP 
Planning and Development Coordinator 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti Planning Department 
 





 
OFFICE USE ONLY 

Rezoning/ Conditional Rezoning/ Ordinance Text/ Master Plan Amendment Application Checklist 
 The application is filled out in its entirety and includes 

the signature of the applicant 
 A legal description of the property, including the street 

address and tax code numbers of the subject property 
 A written description of how the requested rezoning 

satisfies the requirements identified in Section 2703 
 Fees 
 If applicant is not the property owner: 

 Attached statement of the applicant’s interest 
in the subject property 

 Name and address of the record owners 
 Record owners’ and other interested parties’ 

signed consent to the petition 

 A site analysis plan, the scale of which shall be no 
less than one inch = 200 feet and includes the 
following:  
 A title indicating the nature of the rezoning 

request, the applicant's name and the site 
address or general location 

 A legend indicating the owner of record, the 
engineer, surveyor or drafter, as applicable, 
the date of submission, scale and north 
arrow 

 A boundary survey of the subject property 
 The location of existing site boundary lines, 

buildings, structures or other 
improvements, parking areas, driveways, 
points of ingress and egress for the site and 
adjacent parcels 

 The location, width and names of existing 
streets and public or private easements 
adjacent to the site 

 The location of existing and proposed man-
made features, including but not limited to 
drainage or utility structures or 
improvements 

 The location of existing natural features, 
including but not limited to the location of 
existing drainage courses, regulated 
floodplains or wetlands and other relevant 
information the Planning Commission has 
determined to be necessary and essential to 
making an informed recommendation to the 
Township Board 

 Existing and proposed zoning 
classification(s) of the site and adjacent 
parcels. 

*Rezoning/ Conditional Rezoning Only (in addition to information above)

 If a conditional rezoning, an owner of land may voluntarily offer written conditions relating to the use and/or 
development of land for which a conditional rezoning is requested.  This offer may be made either at the time the 
application for conditional rezoning is filed, or additional conditions may be offered at a later time during the 
conditional rezoning process. See Section 1803 for more details. 

 Applicant has agreed to post signage for public notice, adhering to the following guidelines: 
 Sign will be 3’ x 3’  
 Sign to be painted white  
 Sign must say: “This property petitioned for rezoning from XX to XX" with four-inch tall block letters and 

state:  "If you have any questions call the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Planning Department at 734-544-4000 ext. 1"

 Sign shall indicate the rezoning identification number assigned by the Township with two-inch tall block letters. 

7200 S. Huron River Drive  •  Ypsilanti, MI  48197  •  (734) 544-4000 ext. 1 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
Office of Community Standards 
7200 S. Huron Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
Phone: (734) 544-4000 ext. #1  
Website: https://ypsitownship.org  



 
 

3815 Plaza Drive 
Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 

734.995.0200   
 

Land Development • Land Surveying • Municipal • Wireless Communications • Institutional • Transportation • Landfill Services 
 

R:\16217\DATA\200 Site Information\206 Survey\16217 Legal Description.docx 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
(PER CINNAIRE TITLE SERVICES, LLC, COMMITMENT NO. 706337, COMMITMENT DATE: JULY 02, 2024) 
 
Parcel 1: 
Commencing at the South 1/4 post of Section 7, T3S, R7E, Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County, Michigan; 
thence North 89 degrees 15' West along the Section line 700.20 feet for a Place of Beginning; thence North 89 
degrees 15' west along Section line 784.80 feet; thence North 01 degrees 00' West 277.66 feet; thence South 89 
degrees 15' East 784.80 feet; thence South 01 degrees 00' East 277.66 feet to the Place of Beginning; being a 
part of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 7, T3S, R7E. 
 
Address: 2940 Ellsworth Rd. 
Parcel Number: K-11-07-300-075 
 
Parcel 2: 
Part of the Southwest 1/4 Section 7, T3S, R7E, described as commencing at the South quarter post of Section 7 
T3S, R7E, Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County, Michigan, running thence North 89 degrees 15' West along 
the Section line 700.20 feet; thence North 01 degrees 00 West 277.66 feet; thence North 89 degrees 15' 00" 
West 344.78 feet to a place of beginning; thence continuing North 89 degrees 15' 00" West 440.02 feet; thence 
North 01 degree 00' 00" West 138.83 feet; thence South 89 degrees 15' 00" East 440.02 feet; thence South 01 
degree 00' 00" East 138.83 feet. 
 
Address: 280 S. Clubview 
Parcel Number: K-11-07-300-075 



 
 

3815 Plaza Drive 
Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 

734.995.0200   
 

Land Development • Land Surveying • Municipal • Wireless Communications • Institutional • Transportation • Landfill Services 
 

R:\16217\DATA\Zoning\16217 Rezoning Project Narrative.docx 

MEMORANDUM 
 
RE: Huron Valley PACE, Ellsworth Road – Rezoning Project Narrative 
DATE: October 18, 2024 
Brio Living Services and The Washtenaw PACE, Inc. are requesting approval of the proposed rezoning for the 
property located at 2940 Ellsworth Road.  The existing site is 6.4 acres in size and includes the Huron Valley 
PACE facility, which provides medical and supportive services and recreational activities for elderly members of 
the community.  The parcel is currently zoned R-4: One-Family Residential District, and a rezoning to RM-MD: 
Multiple-Family Medium Density Residential District is being requested.  The rezoning request is to allow for 
construction of senior assisted and/or independent living apartments on the site.  The existing Huron Valley 
PACE facility will remain. 
 
Per Section 1804 of the Ypsilanti Township Zoning Ordinance, a petitioner must demonstrate how the 
requested rezoning satisfies each of the following criteria: 

1. Consistency with the goals, policies, and future land use map of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Master 
Plan, including any sub-area or corridor plans.  If conditions have changed since the master plan was 
adopted, the rezoning may be found to be consistent with recent development trends in the area. 

 
The current Future Land Use Map designates this property as Neighborhood Preservation, which is 
intended to preserve and strengthen established residential neighborhoods through investment, 
rehabilitation, and infill.  Appropriate land uses include public and institutional facilities that support the 
surrounding residential properties, as well as attached residential and multiple-family residential along 
neighborhood edges and adjacent to Neighborhood Transition Districts and Mixed-Use Corridors.  The 
requested rezoning to RM-MD is consistent with the Future Land Use designation. 

 
2. Compatibility of the site's physical, geological, hydrological, and other environmental features with all uses 

permitted in the proposed zoning district compared to uses permitted under current zoning. 
 

The site is currently developed, and the permitted uses in the current zoning district (R-4) are similar to 
the permitted uses in the proposed zoning district (RM-MD).  It is anticipated that the site’s physical, 
geological, hydrological, and other environmental features will be compatible with the requested 
rezoning. 

 
3. The compatibility of all uses permitted in the proposed zoning district with surrounding uses and zoning in 

terms of land suitability, impacts on the environment, density, nature of use, traffic impacts, aesthetics, 
infrastructure, and potential influence on property values compared to uses permitted under current 
zoning. 

 
The requested rezoning to RM-MD is compatible with the existing RM-MD zoning along the south side 
of Ellsworth Road, immediately adjacent to the subject site.  Permitted uses within the proposed 
zoning district are very similar to permitted uses within the current R-4 zoning district, including 
residential uses, adult/child day care centers, places of worship, schools, and recreation uses.  
Permitted uses in the proposed zoning district are expected to have similar compatibility with 
surrounding land uses as the current zoning. 
 
Based on the Zoning Ordinance requirements for senior assisted and independent living facilities 
outlined in Section 1160, a minimum site area of 2,000 sf is required for each one-bedroom unit, and a 



Huron Valley PACE – Rezoning Narrative 
October 18, 2024 
Page 2 of 3 
 

R:\16217\DATA\Zoning\16217 Rezoning Project Narrative.docx 

minimum site area of 2,500 sf is required for each two-bedroom unit.  Based on the size of the existing 
site, a maximum of 125 one-bedroom units or 100 two-bedroom units could be proposed.  Out of 
respect for the existing single-family neighborhood north of the site, and in an effort to minimize 
impacts on and promote compatibility with the surrounding properties, the potential development that 
could be realized following the requested rezoning would include 37 senior living units, significantly less 
than what would be allowed by the Zoning Ordinance.  Additionally, landscaping and/or fencing can be 
provided to help screen the development from the adjacent single-family residential properties to the 
immediate north and east. 

 
4. The capacity of Township utilities and services sufficient to accommodate all the uses permitted in the 

requested district without compromising the health, safety, and welfare of the Township. 
 

The subject site is currently developed and is located along a major roadway with access to existing 
utilities and public services.  It is not anticipated that the proposed rezoning or subsequent 
development will result in an unreasonable increase in the need for public services, facilities, roads, and 
utilities.  The requested rezoning will not compromise the health, safety, and welfare of the Township. 

 
5. The capacity of the street system to safely and efficiently accommodate the expected traffic generated by 

uses permitted in the requested zoning district. 
 

The site is located at the intersection of Ellsworth Road and Clubview Drive, with two existing access 
points on Ellsworth Road.  It is expected that the existing street system can safely and efficiently 
accommodate any traffic that would be generated by the requested rezoning or subsequent 
development. 

 
6. The apparent demand for the types of uses permitted in the requested zoning district in the Township, and 

surrounding area, in relation to the amount of land in the Township, and surrounding area, currently zoned, 
and available to accommodate the demand. 

 
There is currently a widespread demand for additional housing units, including within Ypsilanti 
Township and Washtenaw County.  The requested rezoning would allow for construction of much-
needed senior independent and assisted living units, providing residents of Ypsilanti and adjacent 
communities an opportunity to age in place.  Additionally, the existing Huron Valley PACE facility offers 
services and activities that could be utilized by residents of the proposed living units, as well as a variety 
of services that can be provided in participants’ own homes.  The proximity of the proposed living units 
to the existing Huron Valley PACE facility would provide residents with the care they need in an 
efficient and easily-accessible manner. 

 
7. The boundaries of the requested zoning district are sufficient to meet the dimensional regulations for the 

zoning district listed in Article IV, schedule of regulations. 
 

The boundary of the subject parcel is of sufficient size to meet the dimensional requirements of the 
requested zoning district.  The minimum lot size for parcels in the RM-MD zoning district is 1.0 acre.  
The subject parcel is 6.4 acres in size. 

 
8. The requested zoning district shall be more appropriate from the Township's perspective than another 

zoning district. 
 



Huron Valley PACE – Rezoning Narrative 
October 18, 2024 
Page 3 of 3 
 

R:\16217\DATA\Zoning\16217 Rezoning Project Narrative.docx 

The current R-4 zoning classification does not allow for senior independent and assisted living units.  
The requested RM-MD zoning would allow for this type of dwelling unit and is most consistent with the 
adjacent RM-MD zoning south of the site. 

 
9. The requested rezoning will not create an isolated and unplanned spot zone. 

 
The requested rezoning is consistent with the existing RM-MD zoning along the south side of Ellsworth 
Road, immediately adjacent to the subject site, and will not create an isolated and unplanned spot 
zone. 

 
10. The request has not previously been submitted within the past one (1) year, unless conditions have 

changed, or new information has been provided. 
 

A request for rezoning has not been previously submitted within the past year. 
 

11. Other criteria as determined by the Planning Commission or Township Board which would protect the 
health and safety of the public, protect public and private investment in the Township, and enhance the 
overall quality of life in Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

 
The requested rezoning from R-4 to RM-MD would ultimately enhance the overall quality of life in 
Ypsilanti Township, as well as attract new residents to the Township, by allowing for construction of 
senior independent and assisted living units on site with the existing Huron Valley PACE facility.  The 
impacts of a rezoning to RM-MD on adjacent properties and public services would be minimal given 
that the site is currently developed and is located along Ellsworth Road, a major traffic corridor through 
the Township.  Site features such as additional landscaping and fencing can be offered at the time of 
any future development to provide additional screening for the adjacent single-family residential 
neighborhood. 

 
We thank you for your consideration of this request, and look forward to discussing this rezoning with you. 



 
 

3815 Plaza Drive 
Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 

734.995.0200   
 

Land Development • Land Surveying • Municipal • Wireless Communications • Institutional • Transportation • Landfill Services 
 

R:\16217\DATA\Zoning\16217 Rezoning Conditions Memo.docx 

MEMORANDUM 
 
RE: Huron Valley PACE, Ellsworth Road – Proposed Rezoning Conditions 
DATE: December 19, 2024 
Brio Living Services and The Washtenaw PACE, Inc. are requesting approval of the proposed rezoning for the 
property located at 2940 Ellsworth Road.  The existing site is 6.4 acres in size and includes the Huron Valley 
PACE facility, which provides medical and supportive services and recreational activities for elderly members of 
the community.  The parcel is currently zoned R-4: One-Family Residential District, and a rezoning to RM-MD: 
Multiple-Family Medium Density Residential District is being requested.  If rezoned, this will allow for 
construction of senior assisted and/or independent living apartments on the site.  The existing Huron Valley 
PACE facility will remain and continue to serve residents of the community. 
 
As a part of this rezoning request to RM-MD, we are offering the following conditions for your consideration: 

1. The density of the development will be limited to a maximum of 40 living units (6.25 units per acre). 
2. The building height will be limited to 35 feet and 3 stories. 
3. Residentially inhabited buildings will be located no closer than 60 feet to the north property line.  

Accessory structures, such as dumpster enclosures, sheds, generators, and/or decks and patios, are not 
subject to this additional setback requirement. 

4. Residential units will be age-restricted to 55 and older. 
 
We thank you for your consideration of these conditions, and look forward to discussing this rezoning with you. 



NOTE: Parcels may not be to scale.

This map is a user generated static output from an Internet mapping site and
is for reference only. Data layers that appear on this map may or may not be

accurate, current, or otherwise reliable.

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION

Title

The information contained in this cadastral map is used to 
locate, identify and inventory parcels of land in Washtenaw 
County for appraisal and taxing  purposes only and is not to be 
construed as a "survey description". The information is provided 
with the understanding that the conclusions drawn from such  
information are solely the responsibility of the user. Any 
assumption of legal status of this data is hereby disclaimed.

Legend

Notes

THIS MAP REPRESENTS PARCELS ATTHE 
TIME OF PRINTING.  THE OFFICIAL PARCEL 
TAX MAPS ARE MAINTAINED SOLELY BY 
THE WASHTENAW COUNTY  EQUALIZATION 
DEPARTMENT AND CAN BE OBTAINED BY 
CONTACTING THAT OFFICE AT 
734-222-6662.

© 2011 Washtenaw County

9/19/2022

1:
Miles

0.0 0.0

480

0.000

Extra Close OneWay

To-From

From-To

Road Centerlines_1K

<all other values>

Collector

Freeway

Highway

Local

Major Arterial

Minor Arterial

Ramp

O2020_boundary

tjc
Text Box
Huron Valley PACE - Washtenaw GIS

tjc
Polygon



(VARIABLE WIDTH - PUBLIC)

(5
8'

 W
ID

E 
- P

U
BL

IC
)

©

M
ID
W
ES
TE
RN

&
2
N
S8
/T
IN
*

38
15

 P
la

za
 D

riv
e 

 A
nn

 A
rb

or
, M

ic
hi

ga
n 

48
10

8
(7

34
) 9

95
-0

20
0 

• 
w

w
w

.m
id

w
es

te
rn

co
ns

ul
tin

g.
co

m

1) THIS SURVEY WAS PREPARED USING CINNAIRE TITLE SERVICES, LLC, TITLE
COMMITMENT NO. 706337 WITH AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF JULY 02, 2024.

2) THE LEGAL DESCRIPTION DESCRIBES THE SAME PROPERTY AS INSURED IN THE
TITLE COMMITMENT AND ANY EXCEPTIONS HAVE BEEN NOTED HEREIN.

3) BEARINGS BASED ON CINNAIRE TITLE SERVICES, LLC, TITLE COMMITMENT NO.
706337 WITH AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF JULY 02, 2024.

(PER CINNAIRE TITLE SERVICES, LLC, COMMITMENT NO. 706337, COMMITMENT DATE: JULY 02, 2024)

2.  Grant in favor of The Detroit Edison Company recorded in Liber 1 of Grants, page 146.
 (PLOTTED)

3.  Release of Right of Way recorded in Liber 1868, page 692 and in Liber 1868, page 693 Together with
Affidavit recorded in Liber 5252, page 140. (PLOTTED)

4.  DTE Electric Company Underground Easement recorded in 4986, page 18. (PLOTTED)

5.  Declaration of Easements recorded in Liber 5044, page 370. (PLOTTED)

6.  Public Utility Easement recorded in Liber 5302, page 506. (PLOTTED)

(PER CINNAIRE TITLE SERVICES, LLC, COMMITMENT NO. 706337, COMMITMENT DATE: JULY 02, 2024)

Parcel 1:
Commencing at the South 1/4 post of Section 7, T3S, R7E, Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County, Michigan;
thence North 89 degrees 15' West along the Section line 700.20 feet for a Place of Beginning; thence North 89
degrees 15' west along Section line 784.80 feet; thence North 01 degrees 00' West 277.66 feet; thence South
89 degrees 15' East 784.80 feet; thence South 01 degrees 00' East 277.66 feet to the Place of Beginning; being
a part of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 7, T3S, R7E.

Address: 2940 Ellsworth Rd.

Parcel 2:
Part of the Southwest 1/4 Section 7, T3S, R7E, described as commencing at the South quarter post of Section
7 T3S, R7E, Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County, Michigan, running thence North 89 degrees 15' West
along the Section line 700.20 feet; thence North 01 degrees 00 West 277.66 feet; thence North 89 degrees 15'
00" West 344.78 feet to a place of beginning; thence continuing North 89 degrees 15' 00" West 440.02 feet;
thence North 01 degree 00' 00" West 138.83 feet; thence South 89 degrees 15' 00" East 440.02 feet; thence
South 01 degree 00' 00" East 138.83 feet.

Address: 280 S. Clubview

To: Brio Living Services; The Washtenaw P.A.C.E Inc., a Michigan non-profit corporation a/k/a
The Washtenaw PACE Inc, a Michigan Corporation; Cinnaire Title Services, LLC:

This is to certify that this map or plat and the survey on which it is based were made in
accordance with the 2021 Minimum Standard Detail Requirements for ALTA/NSPS Land Title
Surveys, jointly established and adopted by ALTA and NSPS, and does not include any items of
Table A thereof. The fieldwork was completed on 8/29/2024.

MIDWESTERN CONSULTING, LLC.

By: 
      Mark Vander Veen, P.S. No. 4001056788

Date:

R

Know what's below.
       Call before you dig.



Ford Lake

§̈¦94

¬«1¬«10
¬«7

¬«2

¬«4

¬«5

¬«11

¬«9
¬«20

¬«3

¬«6

¬«25

¬«21

¬«22

¬«23

¬«24

¬«26

La
ke

Villa

Ga
il

Ringneck

M
olner

Ea
st

Su
m

m
it

Rivendell

Oak Knoll

Cygnet
Bo

b

W
hi

sp
er

in
g

Roundtree

Bedford

Pa
rk

Es
ta

te
s

Carter

M
cC

ar
tn

ey

Eastwood

Lagoon

St
ew

ar
t

Pen

Sw
ee

t
W

at
er

Pineview

O
re

go
n

Stadium View

HarbourCove

Ro
un

dt
re

e

Turney

Elm
wood

Ro
un

dt
re

e

M
ed

fo
rd

M
ap

le
la

w
n

Tim
ber

Is
la

nd

Geraldine

Spinnaker

Ap
pl

er
id

ge

West

Ro
be

rt

Skyway

Village

Av
el

in
e

Bosuns

Chestnut

Joan

W
oo

dc
re

ek

Ca
rg

o

W
oo

da
leTimber

Cindy

Plantain

Thornridge

Ch
ar

lo
tt

e

Gable

Ga
te

s

Cliffs

Fawn

Ri
le

y

Hy
dr

am
at

ic

Stevens

Villa

Sh
ul

a 
Vi

st
a

N
ev

ad
a

Ty
ro

ne

Vi
lla

Vi
lla

ge

Pa
rk

Nature
View

Tahoe

Colony P
ark

Ainsley

Blackmore
Hu

ro
n

Ri
ve

r

Reba

Wingate

By
na

n

W
ia

rd

Roundtree

Swans Rill

Ford Lake

Park

Hilltop

En
gi

ne
er

in
g

Ro
se

m
ar

y 
Co

m
m

on

Ta
ng

el
w

oo
d

Ec
or

se

Swallows

Ci
vi

c 
Ce

nt
er

Ri
ck

Golden
Pheasant

Sh
el

do
n

Co
nc

or
d

Old Michigan

Cr
os

s
O

ve
r

Bellers

Is
la

nd

Shamrock Hill
La

ke
 In

 T
he

 W
oo

ds

St
ev

en
s

Bo
su

ns

Haven

W
ra

y

ClarkServiceDrive
Ro

un
dt

re
e

Ta
dd

i

Wildwood

Go
uc

hn
ou

r

Buck Crossing

Da
ns

ta
rr

E 
Ec

or
se

/W

Ec
or

se

Chatfield

Br
ow

ni
ng

Ru
ss

el
l

Ri
le

y

Woburn

Rossback

Ru
ss

el
l

ChateauVert

Benjamin

Do
ns

Joe
Hall

Villa

Lakeview

Ca
m

pb
el

l

Bo
m

be
r

Backacres

Coolidge

Julie

Senate

Da
yt

on
a

Gr
ee

nb
rie

r

State

Brookwood

W
hi

te
w

in
g

Co
lu

m
bi

a

W
ia

rd

Boston

Park
Ridge

Prescott

Ware

Cliffs

Re
dw

oo
d

Te
rr

ac
e

Ap
pl

e
Hi

ll

Michigan

Linda

Division

Belmont

Stevens

Minion

Mill
Fo

re
st

M
ai

n

Bynan

Whistling

Bull Run

El
lo

it

Hilltop

Ri
ch

ar
ds

Ce
da

rb
en

d

La
ur

el
 B

ay

Br
am

bl
e

FordLakePark

Swan Lake

Stevens

La
 P

al
om

a

International

Lakeside

M
ai

n

Es
ta

te
s

Woodview

Meadow
Woods

Ar
di

s

International

W
ill

ow
 R

un
Ai

rp
or

t

M
cK

ea
n

To
w

ns
hi

p 
Ha

ll

North
ern

Ai
rp

or
t I

nd
us

tr
ia

l

Sh
ad

y 
Kn

ol
l

De
er

 C
re

ek

Twin Lakes

Swallow

Lakeview

G
au

lt

G
le

nw
oo

d

M
ap

le
la

w
n

Colchester

Cl
ub

vi
ew

Creekway

Le
fo

rg
e

James L Hart

Mazin

W
en

de
ll

Ca
ro

l

Brooktree

Ph
yl

lis

M
ar

ge
ry

Rowley

Fa
ll R

ive
r

Do
rs

et

N
an

cy

Es
se

x

Lilly

Nu
ra

Pa
tr

ic
k

Unknown

Burdock

Sequoia

Vista Way

Sc
ot

t

Ea
gl

e

St
on

y 
Cr

ee
k

Starling

Airport

Shawn

Ed
iso

n

Mott

Oakbrook

Da
ise

y
Ha

ye
s

Jones

Dover

Su
pe

rio
r

W
oo

dg
le

n

Canyon

Bo
yn

e

Hi
gh

Ri
dg

e

Duncan

State

O
hi

o

St
re

am
wo

od

Re
d 

Bi
rd

M
sp

le
vi

ew

Lo
on

Be
rw

ic
k

Eu
ge

ne

Ecorse

Service Drive

Parkland

Jeffery

Richmond

Share

Packard

M
ic

ha
el

Parkwood

M
au

lb
et

sc
h

Congress

Martz

Iv
an

ho
e

Squirrel

Bl
ue

 Ja
y

W
oo

da
le

Foley

Sea Mist

Young

Br
id

ge

Indigo

Tyler

Conway

Bailey

Grove

Am
rh

ei
n

Sh
ul

a
Vi

st
a

M
ea

do
w

La
ne

Po
pl

ar

Red
Oak

Ringneck
De

so
to

As
pe

n

Briarbrook

N
as

h

Warwick

Service

Fo
rd

M
ar

lo
w

Hull

Baytree

Roxbury

N
at

al
ie

Northlawn

Hu
m

m
in

gb
ird

Pe
bb

le
st

on
e

Mollie

Hickory
Ridge

Sm
ith

Se
av

er

M
iss

io
n

Hi
lls

Ar
th

ur

La
ke

w
ay

Peyton

Valleyview

Ne
w

 M
ea

do
w

Be
ve

rly

Valley

Woodruff

Lo
ch

m
oo

r

G
re

en
si

de

W
ill

ow
br

id
ge

Dorothy

Mary
Catherine

Midvale

Cr
ee

ks
id

e

Ra
w

so
nv

ill
e

Eileen

Ruth

Th
or

nh
ill

Ev
el

yn

Durham

Jo
hn

so
n

Southlawn

Eastlawn

Clarita

Ec
orse

Russell

Farm

Pleasant

Harry

Ho
ga

n

Andrea

Tamarack

Ge
or

gi
na

Do
dg

e

O
na

nd
ag

o

Meadowview

Colony

Br
ow

ni
ng

Hereford

Redleaf

Janet

Ha
rr

is

M
ar

ga
rit

a

Pr
os

pe
ct

La
po

rt
e

KnowlesG
at

te
gn

o

Ho
lli

s

Burns

Pam
ela

Washtenaw

Lexington
G

ol
fs

id
e

Lakecrest

U
ta

h

O
ak

la
w

n

Whitman

W
al

la
ce

Pi
ne

w
oo

d

Forest

Ambassador

Senate

Ro
se

w
oo

d

Ecorse

Access

Hu
nt

er

Juneau

Ed
en

Ca
rr

ia
ge

Ru
e 

De
au

vi
lle

Ri
ce

Ea
gle

 Tr
ace

Re
ge

nt

Henley

Pr
in

ce
to

n

Ap
pl

ew
oo

d

Lu
pi

n

Coolidge

Be
rg

en

El
m

hu
rs

t

Pe
ab

od
y

Verna

Ju
ne

Em
er

ic
k

Ro
se

da
le

Ke
w

an
ee

In
di

an

Le
st

er

Heatheridge

Morris

Pi
ne

vi
ew

Fa
irh

ill
s

El
lis

Av
isOak

Yp
si

Ca
rv

er

Raintree

M
un

ge
r

George

Co
tta

ge

Debby

Ri
dg

e
Berm

uda Dunes

Hu
nt

in
gt

on

Ch
er

ry
w

oo
d

Clark

Bosto
n

Br
oa

dm
oo

r

Creek

Bend

Su
m

m
er

da
le

Ro
lli

ng

Pa
sa

de
na

Olds

W
oo

dl
aw

n

Skyway

M
oh

aw
k

M
ia

m
i

Fo
x

G
re

en
la

w
n

Mallard

La
ke

w
oo

d

Sp
y Gl
as

s

US 1
2

Bu
rb

an
k

W
el

lin
gt

on

Wismer

M
cK

ea
n

Golfview

To
dd

Hu
ro

n

M
er

id
ia

n

G
ill

Hu
bb

ar
d

Hu
ds

on

Paint Creek

Pa
r

Vi
ew

Ca
re

n

Je
ro

m
e

Textile

Am
be

rly

Sunnyglen

Mesa

Ha
m

pt
on

Id
e

M
ar

sh
Cr

ee
k

La
ur

el

Ri
ve

r

Ottawa

Br
oo

k

Trillium

Rachel

Glory

Maplewood
Davis

W
ia

rd

Tr
em

on
t

Hi
llc

re
st

Ravinewood

Hawthorne

La
m

ay

M
oe

lle
r

G
at

es

David

Be
rk

le
y

Lynn

Al
le

n

Blossom

Grayfield

Brinker

E US 12

Bi
g 

Pi
ne

N Wiard/Tyler

Cross

Br
ad

le
y

E US
12/Willow

Run

Ca
yu

ga

Blackmore

Br
oo

ks
id

e

S W
iard /

N W
iard

Airport/S

Wiard

Da
yt

on
a

Ba
gl

ey

Fi
rw

oo
d

O
ut

er
 L

an
e

Bud

Ho
m

es
te

ad

W US 12

Joe Hall

Da
w

n

Ja
y

Draper

M
id

w
ay

Du
po

nt

Oak
hu

rst

Shelly

Sa
in

t
An

dr
ew

s

Ca
ld

er

Ka
ns

as

Harmon

Warner

He
w

itt

Tu
tt

le
 H

ill

Em
er

so
n

Co
le

m
an

Whittier

Endicott

Byron

Plainview

So
ut

h
Se

rv
ic

e

Merritt

Ne
w

bu
ry

Av
el

in
e

Fr
an

k

Da
ni

el
s

Bo
rg

st
ro

m

Greene Farm

Shirley

W
in

te
rfi

el
d

M
cG

re
go

r

Gr
ee

nf
ie

ld

Holmes

Amaranth

Du
bi

e

Le
vo

na

O
ut

er

Lo
ri

W US

12/W
illo

w

Run

N W
iar

d/A
irp

ort

Ke
nn

ed
y

De
er

 T
ra

ck

Re
dw

oo
d

Ki
rk

El
de

r

N Wiard/W
US 12

He
ar

th
sid

e

Prairie

W
ha

rt
on

Ta
ft

W
ill

ow
Ru

n/
W

US
 1

2

W
ils

on

Ze
ph

yr

Springwater

W
in

g

Ca
di

lla
c

Hu
nt

M
an

sf
ie

ld

Merrill

St
ud

eb
ak

er

Bu
ic

k

Sc
hu

ss
Cr

os
sin

g

Je
ff

Ellsworth

Crestwood

W
 U

S 
12

/S
 W

ia
rd

Commonwealth

Harding

Carlton

M
ui

rf
ie

ld

Osw
eg

o

Da
ko

taO
re

go
n

De
vo

ns
hi

re

Appleridge

Bemis

Ca
m

pb
el

l

McKinley

Ly
nn

e

Michigan

William

Ca
ry

Tw
in

 To
w

er
s

G
ra

nd

Pioneer

Su
ns

et

Tr
ot

te
r

Pa
rk

Ce
nt

en
ni

al

Ru
e 

W
ill

et
te

Kensington

Morgan

Hi
tc

hi
ng

ha
m

Snow

W
ill

ow
Ru

n/
E

US
 1

2

Sp
en

ce
r

W
at

so
n

N
 W

ia
rd

/E
U

S 
12

De
an

M
cC

ar
tn

ey

Sw
ee

t

Woodland

Whittaker
Bu

nt
on

Huron River

PI
TT

SF
IE

LD
 T

OW
NS

HI
P

PI
TT

SF
IE

LD
 T

OW
NS

HI
P

S U P E R I O R  T O W N S H I PS U P E R I O R  T O W N S H I P

VAN BUREN TOW
NSHIP

VAN BUREN TOW
NSHIP

A U G U S T A  T O W N S H I PA U G U S T A  T O W N S H I P

C I T Y  O FC I T Y  O F
Y P S I L A N T IY P S I L A N T I

7200 South Huron River Drive
Ypsilanti, Michigan 48197

Zoning Map
Charter Township of Ypsilanti

*

Adopted: February 15, 2022

Agricultural Overlay District

R-1 One Family Residential

R-2 One Family Residential

R-3 One Family Residential

R-4 One Family Residential

R-5 One Family Residential

RM-LD Multiple Family (Low Density)

RM-MD Multiple Family (Medium Density)

RM-HD Multiple Family (High Density)

MHP Mobile Home Park

NB Neighborhood Business

GB General Business

RC Regional Corridor

NC Neighborhood Corridor

I-T Innovation and Technology

L-M Logistics and Manufacturing

I-C Industrial and Commercial

PD Planned Development

TC Town Center

* Conditional Zoning

Planned Developments
11
12-19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

Whittaker Village Condominium
N/A
Majestic Lakes
Yankee Air Museum (YAM)
Villas at McCalla Woods
Latter Rain Ministries
Aspen Ridge
Creekside South/Manors
Forestview Estates

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Ford Lake Village
Post Office
Amberly Grove Condominium
Burning Bush
Paint Creek Farms
Greene Farms
Paint Creek Crossing
N/A
Whispering Meadows
Library

Source: Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County
Prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc.

April, 2022

¯ 0 1 20.5
Miles

tjc
Rectangle

tjc
Rectangle

tjc
Arrow

tjc
Arrow

tjc
Arrow

tjc
Arrow

tjc
Arrow

CMB
Callout
Existing Zoning

CMB
Callout
Requested Zoning



50 Future Land Use Plan -  ADOPTED MARCH 2020

Ypsilanti
Township

Master Plan

Ford Lake

NEIGHBORHOOD PRESERVATION: 
Neighborhood Preservation areas are established residential 
neighborhoods primarily north of Ford Lake and I-94.  The 
intent is to preserve and strengthen the neighborhoods 
through investment, rehabilitation and infill.   

INNOVATION & EMPLOYMENT DISTRICT: 
The Innovation and Employment District is intended to be the 
major employment area of the township.  The area is targeted 
for companies at the cutting edge of innovation with a 
combination of technology, office, craft manufacturing or light 
industrial uses.  

OPEN SPACE, NEIGHBORHOOD PRESERVATION, 
& CLUSTER DEVELOPMENT: 
Open Space, Neighborhood Preservation, and Cluster 
Neighborhood areas are in the southern part of the township.  
These areas can accommodate smaller scale specialized 
agricultural uses and low density/cluster single-family residential 
while preserving open spaces, natural features and existing 
neighborhoods. 

AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION: 
Agriculture Preservation is clustered in the south-central 
portion of the township, where farming operations are active.  
The category conserves agricultural lands for small, medium 
and larger farms, and provides stability for the agricultural 
economy while creating a sense of place.   

NEIGHBORHOOD TRANSITION DISTRICTS: 
Neighborhood transition districts are multiple family housing, 
commercial and office uses, but can include single-family homes 
and institutional/civic uses and spaces. Uses shall be compatible 
with the existing areas and respect adjacent neighborhoods.  The 
district is intended to serve as a sensible transition from 
Neighborhood Preservation Areas to more intense uses. 

TOWNSHIP CORE: 
The Township Core is intended to be the central core of the 
township.  It includes the governmental center of the township 
with the Civic Center, County Courthouse, and the district 
library.  Huron Street and the immediately surrounding area is 
meant to host a mix of uses from multiple-family residential to 
commercial to light industrial.   

MIXED USE CORRIDORS: 
Mixed Use Corridors are developed transportation arteries, with 
a mixture of residential, commercial, office and employment 
uses.  The intent is to improve the function, investment value 
and aesthetics of  corridor. There are two types of Mixed Use 
Corridors: Neighborhood and Regional.

SUPERIOR TOWNSHIP

AUGUSTA TOWNSHIP

PI
TT

SF
IE

LD
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP

VA
N

 B
U

RE
N

  T
O

W
N

SH
IP

CITY OF 
YPSILANTI

FUTURE LAND USE MAP
Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

¯ 0 0.5 1 Miles

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township
Carlisle/Wortman Associates

March 2020

SPECIAL AREA PLANS:
These areas have special area plans either in this document or 
recently adopted by Ypsilanti Township.

EXISTING NEIGHBORHOODS:
The intent is to preserve and strengthen these neighborhoods 
through investment, maintenance and preservation of 
surrounding open space.

E CLARK RD

W CLARK RD

PACKARD ST

HOLMES RD

E FOREST AVE

E CROSS ST

S 
FO

RD
 B

LV
D

WASHTENAW AVE E MICHIGAN AVE

ECORSE RD

W MICHIGAN AVEG
O

LF
SI

D
E 

RD

RA
W

SO
N

V
IL

LE
 R

D

S GROVE ST

S HURON RIVER DR

H
U

RO
N

 S
T

WHITTAKER RD

TEXTILE RD

ST
O

NY
 C

RE
EK

 R
D

MARTZ RD

TYLER RD

94

94

12

12

TEXTILE RD

REGIONAL

REGIONAL

RE
G

IO
N

A
L

NEIGHBORHOOD

NEIGHBORHOOD

REGIONAL

BEMIS RD

N
EIG

H
BORHOOD

tjc
Rectangle

tjc
Highlight
 to preserve and strengthen the neighborhoods through investment, rehabilitation and infill. 



54 Future Land Use Plan -  ADOPTED MARCH 2020

Ypsilanti
Township

Master Plan

Neighborhood Preservation areas are older neighborhoods within the township’s urbanized footprint, 
largely concentrated on the north side of the township. The Neighborhood Preservation area features older 
housing stock on grid block patterns.  They provide housing options in a more urban setting, on typically 
smaller lots. These areas are intended to be served by and provide convenient access to commercial 
areas, parks and open space, community facilities and other destinations. Connections to the Mixed-Use 
Corridors is important to access daily services and meet daily needs. The Plan contemplates continued 
preservation and improvement, with quality rehabilitation and infill new construction that is sensitive to the 
character of existing residences. Reinvestment, upkeep, maintenance and pride in ownership are vital to 
the stability of these neighborhoods.

LAND USE:
•  Single-Family residential developed in a 

traditional neighborhood pattern.

•  Public and institutional facilities such as schools, 
places of worship, police stations, community 
centers, that support the surrounding residential 
properties.

•  Public parks and open space.

•  Attached residential and multiple-family 
residential along neighborhood edges and 
adjacent to Neighborhood Transition Districts 
and Mixed-Use Corridors. 

DESIGN CONCEPTS AND CONSIDERATIONS:
•  Maintain traditional neighborhood development pattern.

•  Additions, significant renovations, and new construction should consider the existing scale, architectural 
style, and character of the surrounding area.

•  Each individual neighborhood has a unique character that must be respected and preserved.

•  Walkability and non-motorized connections are essential to maintain neighborhood character and 
access to daily needs and services.

•  Ensure appropriate transition of intensity of uses and scale to adjacent single-family neighborhoods.

•  Peripheral attached residential and multiple-family residential along neighborhood edges and adjacent 
to Neighborhood Transition Districts and Mixed-Use Corridors should be at a scale and density 
consistent with the surrounding area. 

•  Non-residential buildings in neighborhoods can be adaptively re-used when the use and design are 
assets to the surrounding neighborhood.

NEIGHBORHOOD PRESERVATION

tjc
Rectangle

tjc
Rectangle

tjc
Rectangle

tjc
Rectangle

tjc
Rectangle

tjc
Rectangle



51 ADOPTED MARCH 2020 - Future Land Use Plan

ZONING PLAN TABLE  
The Zoning Plan Table shows what zoning districts in the Ypsilanti Township Zoning Ordinance, in 
effect at the time of this plan’s adoption, relate to the future land categories described in this chapter.  A 
Comprehensive Rewrite to the Zoning Ordinance is a catalyst project, expected to be completed within 
one year of the adoption of this plan.  The revised zoning ordinance is expected to revise, replace and 
streamline the zoning districts in Ypsilanti Township. 

Future Land Use Zoning Equivalent

Agricultural Preservation R-1

Open Space, Neighborhood Preservation & Cluster Development R-1, R-2, R-3

Neighborhood Preservation R-4, R-5, RM-2

Neighborhood Transition R-4, R-5, RM-2, RM-3, RM-4, B-1, OS-1

Mixed Use Corridors - Neighborhood RM-2, RM-3, RM-4, B-1, OS-1, B-2, ERFB

Mixed Use Corridors - Regional RM-4, B-2, B-3, IRO

Township Core TC-1, TC-2, TC-3, B-1, B-2, B-3, OS-1, IRO, I-1
Innovation and Employment OS-1, IRO, I-1, I-2, I-3, I-C

tjc
Rectangle

tjc
Rectangle



tjc
Length Measurement
180 ft

tjc
Length Measurement
136 ft

tjc
Length Measurement
22 ft

tjc
Length Measurement
19 ft

tjc
Length Measurement
83 ft

tjc
Length Measurement
100 ft

tjc
Length Measurement
168 ft

tjc
Length Measurement
101 ft



Zoning
Site Area 278,865 sf 43,560 sf min. 278,865 sf

6.40 ac 1.00 ac min. 6.40 ac
Lot Width 784 ft 100 ft min. 784 ft

Building
Ground Floor Area 27,717 sf NA sf 37,679 sf total

9,962 sf proposed
Floor Area (all floors) 48,483 sf NA sf 78,369 sf total

29,886 sf proposed
Lot Coverage 9.94 % 15 % max. 13.51 %
Height 28 ft 45 ft max. 35 ft

2 stories 4 stories max. 3 stories
Density Calualtions

Number of Units NA units 125 units max. 37 units proposed
Density NA du/ac 5.78 du/ac

Setbacks
Front 28 ft (Ellsworth) 40 ft 84 ft (Ellsworth) proposed bldg

520 ft (Clubview) 94 ft (Clubview) proposed bldg
Side 57 ft (west) 40 ft min. (one) 57 ft (west) existing bldg

80 ft min. (total)
Rear 67 ft (north) 50 ft 101 ft (north) proposed bldg

Vehicular Parking
Required Parking 118 spaces total 134 spaces min. (total) 156 spaces total *

66 spaces proposed

Convalescent and Nursing Homes
Senior Assisted or Independent Living

Senior Adults Served by Existing Facility
Employees

* 28 existing spaces removed due to 
reconfiguration of parking lot for addition

156 Participants
98 Full Time Equivalents

Existing assumed 1 space per 423sf
(48,483sf / 423sf = 115 spaces) ## Full Time Equivalents

Existing: R-4 Allowed/Required: RM-MD Proposed: RM-MD

(278,865-27,717)/2,000 = 125 1br units

113 standard, 5 ADA
1 per 3 beds or 2 rooms, whichever less; 

plus 1 per employee
1 per 2 units; plus 1 per employee



tjc
Text Box
24 - Single Bedroom Units2 - Two Bedroom Unit

tjc
Text Box
11 -  One Bedroom Units

tjc
Text Box
37 -  Total Units - 3 Floors





Project Name:

Location:

Date:

Planning D  Report 

Full Preliminary Site Plan Review #
Sketch Preliminary Site Plan Review #
Administrative Preliminary Site Plan Review #
Detailed Engineering/Final Site Plan Review #
Special Use Permit
Public Hearing

Rezoning
Tentative Preliminary Plat Final
Preliminary Plat

Planned Development Stage I 
Planned Development Stage II 

Contact / Reviewer
Consultants, Departments,

& Agencies
Approved

Approved 
with 

Conditions
Denied N/A

See email/letter
attached or comments 

below

Planning D Township Planning 
Department

Carlisle/Wortman 
Associates

Planning Consultant

OHM / Stantec Engineering Consultant

,
Fire Marshal

Township Fire
Department

Dave Bellers, 
Building Official

Township Building 
Department

Brian McCleery, 
Deputy Assessor

Township Assessing 
Department

Scott Westover, 
Engineering Manager

Ypsilanti Community 
Utilities Authority

Gary Streight, Project 
Manager

Washtenaw County Road 
Commission 

Theresa Marsik,
Stormwater Engineer

Washtenaw County Water 
Resources Commission

James Drury, Permit 
Agent

Michigan Department of 
Transportation

Planning D Recommended Action:



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Debbie Swanson 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Karen Lovejoy Roe 
LaResha Thornton 

Staff Report  
Kroger Sign Package 

2010 Whittaker Road, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
Amendment to Approved PD Final Site Plan and Agreement 

 
February 18, 2025  

 
Applicant: Allied Signs, Inc.  
 
Project Name: Kroger Sign Package  
 
Plan Date: 05-16-2024 
 
Location: 2010 Whittaker Road, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 Parcel #K-11-21-200-040 
 
Zoning: PD – Planned Development  
 
Action Requested: Amendment to Final Planned Development Site Plan and 
Agreement  
 
CASE LOCATION AND SUMMARY 
The Office of Community Standards is in receipt of an application from Allied Signs, Inc. 
to amend the Kroger sign package that is illustrated on the Final Planned Development 
(PD) Site Plan for the Paint Creek Crossings Shopping Center. Allied Signs, Inc. is 
seeking authorization for the replacement of approximately 304 sq. ft. of existing Kroger 
signage for approximately 452.2 sq. ft. of new signage for an overall increase of 
approximately 148 sq. ft. of signage. The new signage is aligned with current franchise 
standards / logos for the Kroger Company.  

 
 

SUBJECT SITE USE, MASTER PLAN, AND ZONING 
This property is occupied by the Paint Creek Crossing Shopping Center which contains 
Kroger, Aubree’s Pizzeria & Grill, Pet Supplies Plus, and several other businesses.  
 

Master Plan:  The Charter Township of Ypsilanti 2040 Master Plan designates this 
site for Township Core, a designation intended to be the central core of the township. 
This district includes the township governmental center of the Township Civic Center 
and the Ypsilanti District Library. Huron Street and the immediate area offer a mix of 
uses from multiple-family residential to commercial to clean light industrial. This 
shopping center aligns with the intent and goals of the Master Plan and provides 
residents with day-to-day services. 
 
Zoning:  The property is zoned PD, Planned Development. 

  



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Debbie Swanson 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Karen Lovejoy Roe 
LaResha Thornton 

Figure 1. Aerial of Subject Site and Vicinity  

 
Source: MapWashtenaw (Image Capture 2024)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Debbie Swanson 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Karen Lovejoy Roe 
LaResha Thornton 

Figure 2. Street View of Subject Property  

 
Source: Google Maps (April 2024 Capture) 
 
 
Size of Subject Site:  Current Use of Subject Site: 
5.393 Acres  Kroger Grocery Store 
 
 
ADJACENT USES - ZONING AND MASTER PLAN 

Direction Use Zoning Master Plan 
North Commercial – 

Shopping Center 
PD –  

Planned Development Township Core 

South Commercial – 
Shopping Center 

PD –  
Planned Development Township Core 

East 
Residential TC –  

Town Center Township Core 

West 
Vacant PD –  

Planned Development Township Core 

 
  



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Debbie Swanson 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Karen Lovejoy Roe 
LaResha Thornton 

HISTORY OF PROJECT  
On July 29, 2002, the Paint Creek Crossing PD Agreement was signed and executed, 
granting approval for the Stage II Final PD Site Plan.  
 
 
APPLICANT’S REQUEST 
The existing signs on the Kroger Building were originally approved as part of a Final PD 
Site Plan. The table below outlines the existing approved signage and the proposed 
changes:  
 

Sign Existing 
Approved Size Proposed Size Change 

Michigan First Credit Union  13 sq. ft. 13 sq. ft. No Change 
Kroger Store Sign 110 sq. ft. *240 sq. ft. + 130 sq. ft. 
Starbucks Sign 50 sq. ft. 25 sq. ft. - 25 sq. ft. 
Pharmacy 50 sq. ft. 31.1. sq. ft. - 18.9 sq. ft. 
Pick-Up  N/A 63.1 sq. ft. + 63.1 sq. ft. 
Pharmacy Drive-Thru 64 sq. ft. 80 sq. ft. + 16 sq. ft. 
Food  17 sq. ft. Sign Removed - 17 sq. ft. 
Total  304 sq. ft. 452.2 sq. ft. + 148.2 sq. ft. 

*The sign sizing table provided by the applicant shows this sign to be 290.5 sq.ft. in area; however, using 
the dimensions provided on the plans for this sign, we calculate the size to be 240 sq.ft. in area. 
 
 
APPROVAL PROCESS  
Per Section 618 – Administrative Revisions to Approved PD Plans, the Zoning 
Administrator has the authority to approve minor changes to an approved PD site plan. 
However, major changes require review by the Planning Commission and Township 
Board. The proposed signs exceed the threshold for minor administrative changes and 
constitute a major amendment to the Final PD Plan. The reasons for this determination 
include: 

• The size and height of the signs significantly alter the design of the approved PD 
Site Plan, which is not permissible as a minor alteration under Section 618(2). 

• The request does not fall under any of the minor modifications outlined in Section 
618(2)(A–Q), necessitating formal review by the Planning Commission and 
Township Board. 

 
Given these factors, the requested signage must be reviewed as an amendment to the 
Final PD Site Plan in accordance with Section 618(3) – Major Changes. 
 
 
 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Debbie Swanson 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Karen Lovejoy Roe 
LaResha Thornton 

ANALYSIS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
Article VI. – PD Planned Development Regulations, includes design standards by which 
to evaluate a PD proposal.  Sec. 612, Signs, of the PUD ordinance simply states that 
commercial signs shall be approved as part of the Final PD.   
 
The requested increase in signage is consistent with the objectives of the Township Core 
Master Plan designation and will significantly improve the visibility of the Kroger store 
from the road. Given the store’s distance from Whittaker Road (approximately 315 feet) 
and a 45mph posted speed limit, the larger signage will enhance wayfinding, which is 
essential for traffic safety. 
 
The Planning Commission is encouraged to thoroughly review the proposed amendment 
and provide a recommendation to the Township Board for final approval. 
 
Any recommendation should include the following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant shall work with the Township Planning Department and Township 
Board to formally amend the Final PD Plan and PD Agreement to incorporate the 
revised signage package, as detailed in the Planning Commission Packet.  

2. The applicant shall submit a Building Permit Application, including sign plans 
stamped by a registered engineer licensed in the State of Michigan. 

 
 
  



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Debbie Swanson 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Karen Lovejoy Roe 
LaResha Thornton 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  
 

Major Final PD Plan Modification – Kroger Sign Package  
 
Suggested motions: The following suggested motions and conditions are provided to 
assist the Planning Commission in making the most appropriate motion for this 
application.  The Commission may utilize, add or reject any conditions suggested herein, 
as they deem appropriate. 
 
Motion to postpone:  
“I move to postpone the Major Final PD Plan Modification  request to increase the sign 
package from approximately 304 s.f. to approximately 452 s.f. at the Kroger store in Paint 
Creek Crossing Shopping Center at the property located at 2010 Whittaker, Ypsilanti, MI 
48197, Parcel K-11-21-200-040 to allow the applicant time to modify the proposal as 
discussed at tonight’s Planning Commission meeting.  
 
Motion to Approve:  
“I move to recommend approval to the Township Board of Trustees for the Major Final 
PD Plan Modification  request to increase the sign package from approximately 304 s.f. 
to approximately 452 s.f. at the Kroger store in Paint Creek Crossing Shopping Center at 
the property located at 2010 Whittaker, Ypsilanti, MI 48197, Parcel K-11-21-200-040, with 
the following conditions:  

1. The applicant shall work with the Township Planning Department and Township 
Board to formally amend the Final PD Plan and PD Agreement to incorporate the 
revised signage package, as detailed in the Planning Commission packet.  

2. The applicant shall submit a Building Permit Application, including sign plans 
stamped by a registered engineer, licensed in the State of Michigan.   

3. Any other conditions based upon Planning Commission discussion.  

Motion to Deny:  
“I move to recommend denial to the Township Board of Trustees for the Major Final PD 
Plan Modification  request to increase the sign package from approximately 304 s.f. to 
approximately 452 s.f. at the Kroger store in Paint Creek Crossing Shopping Center at 
the property located at 2010 Whittaker, Ypsilanti, MI 48197, Parcel K-11-21-200-040, due 
to the following reasons:”   

1.____________________________________________________________________ 
 
2.____________________________________________________________________  
 
 
 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Debbie Swanson 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Karen Lovejoy Roe 
LaResha Thornton 

 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 

Fletcher Reyher  
Fletcher Reyher, AICP 
Planning and Development Coordinator 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti Planning Department 
 





































Store # D-707
YPSILANTI TWP., MI

YPSILANTI, MI

900506-62

HUDSON & WHITAKER

ADDITION/REMODEL

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

EXTERIOR
ELEVATIONS

A2.1

03/29/07

Sally Elmiger
Distance Measurement
7.8552 ft


	02-18-2025 Planning Department Report.pdf
	2025 - Kroger Staff Report.pdf
	Case Location and Summary
	Subject Site Use, Master Plan, and Zoning


	2025 - Kroger Staff Report.pdf
	Case Location and Summary
	Subject Site Use, Master Plan, and Zoning
	Suggested Motions:


	2025 - PACE Rezoning - Draft Motions.pdf
	Suggested Motions:

	2025 - Kroger Staff Report.pdf
	Case Location and Summary
	Subject Site Use, Master Plan, and Zoning
	Suggested Motions:



	Check Box10: Off
	Check Box18: Off
	Check Box11: Off
	Check Box12: Off
	Check Box13: Off
	Check Box14: Off
	Check Box19: Off
	Check Box20: Off
	Check Box21: Off
	Check Box15: Off
	Check Box16: Off
	Check Box17: Off
	Check Box22: Off
	Check Box23: Off
	Check Box24: Off
	Check Box25: Off
	Check Box26: Off
	Check Box27: Off
	Check Box28: Off
	Check Box29: Off
	Check Box30: Off
	Check Box31: Off
	Check Box32: Off


